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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 


DALLAS DIVISION 


SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE : 
COMMISSION,  :

 :
    Plaintiff,  :  Civil Action No.: 3:10-cv-826

 :
 v.  :

 :
 :  

SUSAN G. SLOVAK :
 :

 Defendant. : 
: 

COMPLAINT 

1. Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) alleges as follows 

against Defendant Susan G. Slovak (“Slovak” or “Defendant”):  

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS 

2. Between 2005 and 2008, Susan Slovak, a registered representative of a 

Commission-registered brokerage firm in Corsicana, Texas, took approximately $330,000 from 

an elderly customer without the customer’s knowledge.  Without prior authorization, Slovak sold 

securities in the customer’s brokerage account and transferred the proceeds to her personal bank 

accounts. In 2008, after exhausting almost all of the customer’s liquid net worth, Slovak 

falsified firm documents to misappropriate an additional $144,000 from the accounts of two 

other customers, transferring those funds to the first customer’s brokerage account.   

3. As a result of her misconduct, Slovak violated Section 10(b) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5] thereunder and Section 206 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”) 
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[15 U.S.C. § 80b-6].  The Commission brings this Complaint to seek a permanent injunction 

against Slovak, as well as civil money penalties.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. The Court has jurisdiction over this civil action pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(e), 

and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78(u)(e), and 78aa] and Section 214 of the 

Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14]. The Defendant made use of the means or instruments of 

interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange in 

connection with the acts, transactions, practices, and courses of business alleged in this 

Complaint.  

5. Venue lies in the Northern District of Texas pursuant to Section 27 of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa]. Venue is proper because transactions, acts, practices, and 

courses of business constituting the violations described below occurred in the Northern District 

of Texas. 

THE PARTIES 

6. The plaintiff is the Commission, which brings this civil action pursuant to the 

authority conferred on it by Sections 21(d) and 21(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 

and 78u(e)] and Sections 209(d) and 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-9(d) and  

80b-9(e)]. 

7. Defendant Slovak, age 50, is a resident of Ennis, Texas.  From 1999 through 

2008, Slovak obtained certain securities-brokerage licenses from Finra and its predecessor entity, 

the NASD, enabling her to serve as a registered representative in various capacities at a 

Commission-registered brokerage firm.  
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FACTS
 

Background 

8. From 2001 to October 2005, Slovak was a registered representative associated 

with Williams Financial Group, Inc. (“WFG”), a Commission-registered brokerage firm and 

investment adviser headquartered in Dallas, Texas.  Slovak served in a WFG branch office in 

Corsicana, Texas.  In October 2005, that branch office discontinued its association with WFG 

and became associated with Commonwealth Equity Services, LLP d/b/a Commonwealth 

Financial Network (“Commonwealth”), another Commission-registered brokerage firm and 

investment adviser.  From October 2005 to January 6, 2008, Slovak was a registered 

representative associated with Commonwealth.   

9. Despite the transition from WFG to Commonwealth, Slovak continued to work in 

the same office and to provide services to many of the same customers.  The only other 

registered representative in the Corsicana branch office was Slovak’s branch manager.  In most 

instances, Slovak and her branch manager worked as a team in servicing customer accounts.   

Slovak’s Misappropriation from Customer A’s Brokerage and Bank Accounts 

10. From early in her career at WFG’s Corsicana office, Slovak served as a registered 

representative on the brokerage account of a certain elderly widower (“Customer A”).  Customer 

A was a frequent visitor to the Corsicana branch and befriended Slovak. In 2005, after his last 

living heir died, Customer A started relying on Slovak to assist him in various daily tasks, such 

as buying groceries and paying bills. 

11. In 2005, at Slovak’s suggestion, Customer A and Slovak opened a joint bank 

account (the “Joint Bank Account”) at a local bank.  Because Slovak was a joint accountholder, 

she was able to withdraw and transfer funds at will from the Joint Bank Account.  About the time 
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the Joint Bank Account was opened, Customer A signed a power of attorney, giving Slovak 

broad authority over his financial and personal affairs, including the power to act as his agent on 

securities, banking, and other financial-institution transactions.  The power of attorney, however, 

did not authorize Slovak to use Customer A’s funds for her own benefit. 

12. Although Slovak obtained power of attorney authority from Customer A for the 

purported purpose of helping him with his finances, her true purpose was to misappropriate his 

funds for her own use. When she took control of Customer A’s finances, she was in financial 

distress. For example, in February and March 2005, in one bank account she used to pay her 

day-to-day expenses, she was charged overdraft fees 15 times, totaling more than $500.  And she 

owed balances on dozens of credit cards and retailer charge cards. 

13. Almost immediately after opening the Joint Bank Account with Customer A, 

using her access to Customer A’s brokerage account as a registered representative, Slovak started 

selling securities in the brokerage account, transferring large amounts of the cash proceeds from 

these sales to the Joint Bank Account, and then transferring the cash to her personal bank 

accounts. She also began paying her personal expenses directly from the Joint Bank Account. 

14. Because Customer A’s brokerage account and the Joint Bank Account were 

linked in Commonwealth’s computer system, Slovak could electronically transfer funds between 

the accounts without providing any written customer authorization to Commonwealth.  From 

2005 through 2009, Slovak used this method to transfer at least $330,000 from Customer A’s 

brokerage account to her own accounts or to pay her bills.  She also used additional funds from 

the Joint Bank Account to directly pay personal bills.  Practically all of Slovak’s withdrawals 

from the Joint Bank Account, other than some small items, were for her benefit, not Customer 

A’s benefit. 
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15. At the time Slovak started making the transfers, Customer A had not authorized 

Slovak to take the funds for her own personal use.  Subsequently, however, she told Customer A 

that she was spending an unspecified amount of his money for her own expenses.  Without 

knowing the amount already taken, Customer A told her to “take what she needed.”  Slovak 

subsequently told Customer A she had spent approximately $250,000 of his money.  Although 

Customer A was unaware that Slovak had spent so much of his money, and had not authorized 

her to do so, he has insisted that he does not want the money back. 

Slovak’s Misappropriation from Other Customer Accounts 

16. As of July 1, 2008, Customer A’s brokerage account held securities valued at 

approximately $50,000, but had a negative cash balance of approximately $33,000.  The Joint 

Bank Account had a balance of $21.50. To increase the balances in the accounts, and to provide 

more funds for her own use, Slovak decided to misappropriate funds from two other customers 

(“Customer B” and “Customer C”).  She selected the accounts of these two customers because 

she had previously obtained blank, signed authorization forms from them, which would allow 

her unfettered access to their accounts. 

17. On July 1, 2008, using her access to Customer B’s account as a Commonwealth 

representative, Slovak sold money-market securities in Customer B’s account, without Customer 

B’s authorization. The sale yielded cash proceeds of $96,000, which remained in Customer B’s 

account after the sale. Slovak then drew a check from Customer B’s account for $96,000, 

payable to Customer A. 

18. To have the check issued, Slovak provided Commonwealth with a check-

authorization form, signed by Customer B.  Customer B had signed the check-authorization form 

months earlier when she was considering moving some funds to a new investment.  Customer B 
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ultimately decided not to make that earlier investment, but Slovak nevertheless kept the signed 

form.  Slovak used the signed form without Customer B’s authorization.   

19. Once Commonwealth issued the $96,000 check, Slovak deposited it in the Joint 

Bank Account. By August 4, 2008, Slovak had transferred approximately $51,000 of Customer 

B’s funds from the Joint Bank Account to Slovak’s personal bank accounts or to pay Slovak’s 

bills. 

20. Commonwealth’s clearing broker sent Customer B a confirmation letter, 

informing her that the $96,000 had been withdrawn from her account.  Upon receiving the letter, 

Customer B did not recognize the transaction.  Customer B contacted Slovak to inquire about the 

withdrawal. Slovak told Customer B, falsely, that the withdrawal was in connection with a new 

investment that was being made on Customer B’s behalf.  

21. Also in early July, Slovak misappropriated funds from Customer C, a 

Commonwealth investment-adviser client.  On July 2, 2008, using her access to Customer C’s 

account as a Commonwealth representative, Slovak sold money-market securities valued at 

$65,000 in Customer C’s IRA account, without Customer C’s authorization.  After 

Commonwealth withheld 25% to pay federal taxes, the transaction yielded $48,750 in cash in 

Customer C’s account.  Slovak used those proceeds to purchase money-market securities valued 

at $48,750 in a non-IRA account that Customer C held at Commonwealth.  On July 7, 2008, 

Slovak sold the money-market securities from Customer C’s non-IRA account for $48,000 in 

cash, which she then transferred to Customer A’s account using a falsified authorization form. 

On July 9, 2008, Slovak transferred $10,000 from Customer A’s account to the Joint Bank 

Account. 
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Slovak Pays Back Customers B and C, But Misleads Firm and Customer B 

22. In August 2008, Slovak acknowledged her misconduct concerning Customers B 

and C to her branch manager.  The branch manager insisted that Slovak make the two customers 

whole, by transferring funds to the firm and repurchasing securities in the customers’ accounts.  

However, in order to obtain authorization for the purchases of securities, Slovak made material 

misstatements and/or omissions to Commonwealth compliance staff and to Customer B.  In 

particular, she suggested that she had withdrawn the funds by mistake, rather than as a result of 

deliberate misconduct. 

FIRST CLAIM 

(Violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5)  

23. The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 22.  

24. Defendant Slovak, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in 

connection with the purchase and sale of securities, by use of the means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce and by use of the mails, has (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to 

defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts and have omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which 

operate as a fraud and deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers, and other persons. 

25. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Slovak has violated, and unless enjoined 

will continue to violate, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 

[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder. 
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SECOND CLAIM 


(Violations of Advisers Act Section 206) 


26. The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 22.  

27. Defendant Slovak, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, while 

functioning as an investment adviser, by use of the mails or means or instrumentality of interstate 

commerce, has (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud a client; (b) engaged in 

transactions, practices or courses of business which operate as a fraud or deceit upon a client; and 

(c) engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which are fraudulent, deceptive, and 

manipulative.   

28. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Slovak has violated, and unless enjoined 

will continue to violate, Section 206 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-6]. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court enter a judgment:  

I. 

Permanently enjoining Defendant Slovak from future violations of Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], and of 

Section 206 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-6]; 

II. 

Imposing civil penalties against Defendant Slovak pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)] and Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C § 80b-

9(e)] for violations of the federal securities laws as alleged herein;  
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III. 

Such other and further relief as the Commission may show itself entitled. 

Dated: April 23, 2010 

       Respectfully submitted, 

s/Timothy S. McCole
       TIMOTHY  S.  McCOLE
       Mississippi Bar No. 10628 
       JONATHAN P. SCOTT 
       District of Columbia Bar No. 456930 
       SECURITIES  AND  EXCHANGE
       COMMISSION  

801 Cherry Street, 19th Floor 
Fort Worth, TX 76102 
E-mail: McColeT@SEC.gov 
Phone: (817) 978-6453 
Fax: (817) 978-4927 

       Attorneys  for  Plaintiff  
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